
All public business will be conducted by 11:00 p.m. unless waived by a vote of the Commission.   

Any party needing an accommodation contact the Planning & Development Department at (860) 871-3601. 

The Town of Tolland is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Employer. 

Agenda 

Tolland Planning & Zoning Commission 
21 Tolland Green, Tolland, Connecticut 

Monday, December 11, 2023 at 7:00 p.m., 6th floor – Council Chambers 

 
 

1. Call to Order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

3. Seating of Alternate(s) 

4. Additions to Agenda 

5. Public Comment - Any person wishing to ask a question, make a comment or put forward a 

suggestion for any item or matter other than a public hearing item. 

6. Public Hearing(s) 

6.1. PZC #23-15 – 131 Merrow Road –Request for a Special Permit Modification to allow a minor 

change in the building footprint with a new architectural style and minor site adjustments. Zone: 

Gateway Design District (GDD) Applicant: Elements Car Wash. 

6.2. PZC #23-16 Zoning Regulation and Map Amendment- Request to revise Article 11 – 

Technology Campus Zone and Article 14 – Table of Uses to rename the zone to Tolland 

Commercial Zone, revise its purpose, and expand the list of allowable uses. Revisions also 

proposed to Sections 1-2, 8-1, 11A-1 and 19-2.G and the Zoning Map to reflect the new name of 

the CZ. Applicant: Town of Tolland. 

7. Old Business  

7.1. Possible action on PZC #23-15. 

7.2. Possible action on PZC #23-16. 

8. New Business 

8.1. 52 Rhodes Road – Sign Permit. 

9. Reports 

9.1. Town Council Liaison 

9.2. Economic Development Liaison 

9.3. Capitol Region Council of Governments 

9.4. Zoning Enforcement Report 

9.5. Planning Update 

10. Other Business 

11. Correspondence 

12. Public Participation 

13. Approval of Minutes – November 27, 2023 Regular Meeting  

14. Adjournment 

 

To join the Zoom meeting, either click: 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/4325402030?pwd=NG43Z

HcyOXBQOGJldzZVTmQxNmhZZz09 

One tap mobile: 

+13017158592,,4325402030#,,,,*444555# 

Or call: 1-646-876-9923 and input: 

Meeting ID: 432 540 2030 

Passcode: 444555 

 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/4325402030?pwd=NG43ZHcyOXBQOGJldzZVTmQxNmhZZz09
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/4325402030?pwd=NG43ZHcyOXBQOGJldzZVTmQxNmhZZz09


1 

 

       

MEMO 

  

TO: Planning and Zoning Commission 

FROM:         David Corcoran, AICP, Director of Planning & Development 

DATE:          December 5, 2023 

RE: PZC #23-15 – 131 Merrow Road –Request for a Special Permit Modification to allow a 
minor change in the building footprint with a new architectural style and minor site 
adjustments. Zone: Gateway Design District (GDD) Applicant: Elements Car Wash. 

 
The applicant is proposing a modification to their Special Permit which was initially approved on August 26, 
2019. The proposed modification would: 

1. Modify the footprint of the building with minimal change in square footage.  
2. Change the proposed architectural styling of the building 
3. Minor modifications to the sidewalk and entrance driveway to accommodate the new building 

footprint with no increase in impervious surface.   
4. Minor adjustment to the location of the trench drains/drainage. 
5. Provide angled parking at the vacuum area to minimize turning movements. 
6. Roughly swap the reclamation tanks and geothermal well locations. 

 
The proposed modification to the architectural style of the building appears to be consistent with the design 
guidelines in the Gateway Design District. The modifications to the location of the drainage features do not 
appear to be sufficient enough to warrant further Engineering Review.  
 
The initial Special Permit was automatically extended by CGS 8-3c(2), which specifies that “…any special 
permit or special exception approval made under this section on or after July 1, 2011, but prior to June 10, 
2021, that did not expire prior to March 10, 2020, and that specified a deadline by which all work in 
connection with such approval is required to be completed, shall expire not less than nineteen years after 
the date of such approval and the commission may grant one or more extensions of time to complete all or 
part of the work in connection with such special permit or special exception.” 
 
 

TOWN of TOLLAND/ 21 Tolland Green, Tolland, Connecticut 06084 
 

Section 6.1 Page 1



 

 

 

 

 

 

Legal Notice  

Public Hearing 

 

Tolland Planning & Zoning Commission 

 

The Tolland Planning & Zoning Commission will hold a Public Hearing on Monday, 

December 11, 2023, commencing at 7:00 p.m., to hear and discuss the following:    
 

1. PZC #23-15 – 131 Merrow Road –Request for a Special Permit Modification to 

allow a minor change in the building footprint with a new architectural style and 

minor site adjustments. Zone: Gateway Design District (GDD) Applicant: Elements 

Car Wash. 

2. PZC #23-16 Zoning Regulation and Map Amendment- Request to revise Article 

11 – Technology Campus Zone and Article 14 – Table of Uses to rename the zone to 

Tolland Commercial Zone, revise its purpose, and expand the list of allowable uses. 

Revisions also proposed to Sections 1-2, 8-1, 11A-1 and 19-2.G and the Zoning Map 

to reflect the new name of the TCZ. Applicant: Town of Tolland. 

 

Copies of these applications are on file and available for review in the Planning & Building 

Department at 21 Tolland Green, Tolland, CT.   

 

To be advertised twice in the Journal Inquirer: Wednesday, November 29, 2023 

       Thursday, December 7, 2023  

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Section 6.1 Page 2



Section 6.1 Page 3



Section 6.1 Page 4



Section 6.1 Page 5



Section 6.1 Page 6



Section 6.1 Page 7



Section 6.1 Page 8



Section 6.1 Page 9



Section 6.1 Page 10



Section 6.1 Page 11



Section 6.1 Page 12



Section 6.1 Page 13



Section 6.1 Page 14



Section 6.1 Page 15



Section 6.1 Page 16



Section 6.1 Page 17



       
 
             

August 27, 2019 

Valerie & Scot Rogers 

23 Clover Springs Drive 

Willington, CT 06279 

 

Re: P&Z App. #19-12, 131 Merrow Road – Special Permit Approval 

 

Dear Applicant: 

You are hereby advised that at the August 26, 2019 meeting, the Planning and Zoning 

Commission approved your Special Permit (per Section 10-3.C.24) application to allow a car 

wash that will be connected to a public sewer and the Site Plan dated April 24, 2019 with 

revisions to July 18, 2019.   

The approval was granted with the condition that a conservation easement, as entered into the 

record at the August 26, 2019 public hearing, must be recorded prior to receiving a Certificate of 

Occupancy for the new building. 

The legal notice announcing the approval will be published on August 28. An appeal period 

expires 15 days after the publication of that notice. Here are your next steps: 

1. You must file the enclosed Notice of Granting a Special Permit with the Town Clerk.  

2. Please bring your filing receipt to the Planning & Development Department. 

3. Should an appeal be filed within the 15 day appeal period, it may affect the status of your 

Special Permit.  

4. You may then apply for zoning and building permits.  

If you have any questions, please contact me at 860-871-3601.  

Sincerely, 

 

Heidi Samokar, AICP 

Director of Planning and Development 

TOWN of TOLLAND/ 21 Tolland Green, Tolland, Connecticut 06084 
 

Certified mail: 7014 2870 0001 
5820 5347 

Section 6.1 Page 18



BREAK

DESK/COUNTER

DESK/COUNTER

SLIDING WINDOW

RETAIL/
DISPLAY

STORAGE STORAGE

GAS FIREPLACE

LOCKERS

BATHROOM

LOBBY

STAIR

62"

69"

66"

81"

UP

CONTROL
ROOM MACHINE

ROOM

TEMPERED GLASS OR ACRYLIC PANEL
PANELED OVERHEAD DOOR

CAR WASH TUNNEL

125'-4"

9'-8" 12'-6" 30'-0" 71'-2" 2'-0"

43
'-4

"

21
'-4

"
16

'-6
"

5'
-6

"

STORAGE

OFFICE

MECH.

BATH

DNSHOWER

30'-0"

22
'-8

"

3/16" = 1'-0"

SECOND FLOOR PLAN -  680 SF2

A-1

1/4" = 1'-0"

FIRST FLOOR PLAN - 4,660 SF1

A-1

DATE

CHECKED BY

DRAWN BY

PROJECT NO

PRELIMINARY - NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

ENGLAND
NEW

DESIGN
INCORPORATED
86 0 - 42 3 - 0 334

25 Ledgebrook  Drive  Mansfield   CT   06250   860-423-0334
NewEnglandDesign.com

PROJECT PLANNERS

© 2011 New England Design Incorporated

PROJECT ARCHITECT

Karl Norton Architect, LLC
25 Ledgebrook Drive, Mansfield, CT 06250

REVISIONS

NED

SCALE

2018-428

JE/KN
KN

05-12-19
AS NOTED

ELEMENTS
CAR WASH LLC

131 MERROW ROAD
TOLLAND CT

SPECIAL PERMIT
APPLICATION

A-1

PROPOSED

FLOOR PLANS

Section 6.1 Page 19



ELEMENTS
CAR WASH
ELEMENTS
CAR WASH

23
'-7

"

9'
-1

0"

15
'-0

"

JAMES HARDIE REVEAL FIBER CEMENT
PANEL SYSTEM. 7/16" PANELSD WITH
1/2" JOINT-PREFINISHED TO MATCH
BENJAMIN MOORE 1672 ALFRESCO

ALUMINUM FASCIA SYSTEM- MATCH
UNA-CLAD CITYSCAPE GRAY

5/8" X 6 BORAL V-GROOVE SINGLE BEADBOARD
SOFFIT (JOINTS PARALLEL TO EXTERIOR WALLS)
PRE-FINISHED W/ CAROLINA COLORTONES
SEQUOIA STAIN

PRE ENGINEERED EXTRUDED
ALUMINUM HANGER ROD
CANOPIE-MAPES OR EQUAL.
MATCH UNA-CLAD CITYSCAPE
GRAY

RECESSED LED DOWNLIGHT
UNDER CANOPY-TYPICAL

INTERNALLY ILLUMINATED CHANNEL
LETTER SIGN. 29 SF
ELEMENTS LOGO. 30 SF DESIGN T.B.D.

MANUFACTURED STONE VENEER.
PROVIA OTTAWA DRYSTACK OR
EQUAL-NO GROUT
ALUMINUM OVERHEAD COILING
DOOR ENCLOSURE-MATCH
UNA-CLAD CITYSCAPE GRAY

BORAL TRUEXTERIOR  1 X 6 V JOINT OR
NICKEL GAP SIDING. PRE-FINISHED W/
CAROLINA COLORTONES SEQUOIA STAIN

FLEXIBLE DRIP CAP FLASHING-PAINTED

BORAL TRUEXTERIOR  1 X 6 V JOINT OR
NICKEL GAP SIDING. FIELD PAINTED TO
MATCH BENJAMIN MOORE 2016-40
ECLECTIC BLUE

22
'-2

"

CLEAR ANODIZED CENTER
GLAZED STOREFRONT SYSTEM W/
1" INSULATED LOW E GLAZING.
US ALUMINUM IT451 OR EQUAL.

43'-4"

9'
-6

"

14'-0"

TEMPERED GLASS OR ACRYLIC
PANEL PANELED OVERHEAD
DOOR

125'-4"

15
'-0

"

18'-0"

23
'-7

"

ELEMENTS
CAR WASH
ELEMENTS
CAR WASH

INTERNALLY ILLUMINATED CHANNEL
LETTER SIGN. 29 SF
ELEMENTS LOGO. 30 SF DESIGN T.B.D.

CLEAR ANODIZED CENTER
GLAZED STOREFRONT SYSTEM W/
1" INSULATED LOW E GLAZING.
US ALUMINUM IT451 OR EQUAL.

GOOSENECK LED WALL SCONCE.
TYPICAL

12'-6"
125'-4"

15
'-0

"

9'
-6

"

14'-0"
43'-4"

15
'-0

"

22
'-2

"

3/16" = 1'-0"

SOUTH ELEVATION1

A-2

PROPOSED

ELEVATIONS

3/16" = 1'-0"

WEST ELEVATION2

A-2

3/16" = 1'-0"

NORTH ELEVATION4

A-2

DATE

CHECKED BY

DRAWN BY

PROJECT NO

PRELIMINARY - NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

ENGLAND
NEW

DESIGN
INCORPORATED
86 0 - 42 3 - 0 334

25 Ledgebrook  Drive  Mansfield   CT   06250   860-423-0334
NewEnglandDesign.com

PROJECT PLANNERS

© 2011 New England Design Incorporated

PROJECT ARCHITECT

Karl Norton Architect, LLC
25 Ledgebrook Drive, Mansfield, CT 06250

REVISIONS

NED

SCALE

2018-428

JE/KN
KN

05-12-19
AS NOTED

ELEMENTS
CAR WASH LLC

131 MERROW ROAD
TOLLAND CT

SPECIAL PERMIT
APPLICATION

A-2

3/16" = 1'-0"

EAST ELEVATION3

A-2

MANUFACTURED STONE VENEER WALL SCONCE

13" DIA. GOODRICH BOMBER PORCELAIN

GOOSENECK LIGHT W/ LED LAMPING (OR

EQUAL)-METALIC CHROME FINISH

DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE

6' HIGH PVC VINYL PRIVACY FENCE

WITH  ROSEWOOD FINISH BY ILLUSION

VINYL FENCE CO. OR EQUAL

PROVIA OTTAWA DRYSTACK-NO GROUT

Section 6.1 Page 20



Section 6.1 Page 21



Section 6.1 Page 22



Section 6.1 Page 23



Section 6.1 Page 24



Section 6.1 Page 25



Section 6.1 Page 26



1 

 

       

MEMO 

  

TO: Planning and Zoning Commission 

FROM:         David Corcoran, AICP, Director of Planning & Development 

DATE:          December 5, 2023 

RE: PZC #23-16 Zoning Regulation and Map Amendment- Request to revise Article 11 – 
Technology Campus Zone and Article 14 – Table of Uses to rename the zone to Tolland 
Commercial Zone, revise its purpose, and expand the list of allowable uses. Revisions also 
proposed to Sections 1-2, 8-1, 11A-1 and 19-2.G and the Zoning Map to reflect the new 
name of the TCZ. Applicant: Town of Tolland. 

 
The Planning and Zoning Commission is proposing a revision the Technology Campus Zone (TCZ), based on 
outcomes identified in the 2019 POCD and further reflected in discussions with prospective developers and 
applicants who own property in or are interested in re-locating to the TCZ.  
 
The Technology Campus Zone was originally formed in 2013 following studies which indicated Tolland 
would be well-positioned to absorb growth in the technology and industrial sectors from expansion at the 
University of Connecticut. The intention of this zone was to spur large-scale redevelopment of the area 
under the guise of a unified Technology Campus with the following principles: 

1.   Emulate a campus form with multiple buildings sharing parking and other amenities 
2.   Encourage coordinated development between property owners 
3.   Protect natural resources 
4.   Promote sustainable design 
5.   Provide pedestrian connections and pathways 

 
Since 2013, the Town has seen no new development in the Technology Campus Zone. The TCZ contains 
much of the Town’s remained undeveloped or underdeveloped land which has easy access to water and 
sewer infrastructure. In the 2019 Plan of Conservation and Development, the Town identified that it should: 
 

“…modify / re-adapt its approaches to the TVA and TCZ based on the experiences of the last decade 
and input during the update of this Plan. Given the need for and market for multi-family housing, 
the Town should determine if the TCZ might be ripe for mixed uses. For this zone, the Commission 
could update regulations to allow a flexible Master Plan approach to commercial, industrial, and 
mixed-use development. Such modification should focus on creating flexibility for development and 
quality of site design and architecture.” 

 
In 2021, the Planning and Zoning Commission adopted a “Master Plan Overlay Zone” to allow for increased 
development in the TCZ. The Master Plan Overlay Zone (MPOZ) allows for a larger-scale developer to create 

TOWN of TOLLAND/ 21 Tolland Green, Tolland, Connecticut 06084 
 

Section 6.2 Page 1



2 

 

a floating zone within the TCZ with its own set of allowable uses and dimensional requirements, allowing for 
expedited land use approvals after a conceptual design is approved by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission. While no developers have taken advantage of this yet, it appears to be a viable tool to support 
larger scale development. However, this does not support smaller-scale development or occupancy in 
existing structures within the TCZ, as the allowable land uses in the TCZ without entering the MPOZ process 
remain limited to technology and industrial-related uses.  
 
Following public participation on October 16, 2023 and further discussion on October 30, 2023 and 
November 27, 2023, the Commission identified some possible changes to the allowable uses and tentatively 
decided to rename the Technology Campus Zone to the “Tolland Commercial Zone.” The attached 
documents show a second draft of proposed changes to the TCZ to align with the intent to encourage 
economic development in the zone.  
 
The proposed changes would: 

 Rename the Technology Campus Zone to “Tolland Commercial Zone” 

 Expand the list of allowable uses to allow for more permitted activity, including more land uses that 
allowed by Site Plan instead of Special Permit 

 Impose a requirement for a Special Permit for any development greater than 50,000 square feet.  

 Create a set of design guidelines to provide clarity to developers for aesthetics and function in the 
Tolland Commercial Zone, continuing to encourage larger-scale, integrated development. 

 

Section 6.2 Page 2



 

 

 

 

 

 

Legal Notice  

Public Hearing 

 

Tolland Planning & Zoning Commission 

 

The Tolland Planning & Zoning Commission will hold a Public Hearing on Monday, 

December 11, 2023, commencing at 7:00 p.m., to hear and discuss the following:    
 

1. PZC #23-15 – 131 Merrow Road –Request for a Special Permit Modification to 

allow a minor change in the building footprint with a new architectural style and 

minor site adjustments. Zone: Gateway Design District (GDD) Applicant: Elements 

Car Wash. 

2. PZC #23-16 Zoning Regulation and Map Amendment- Request to revise Article 

11 – Technology Campus Zone and Article 14 – Table of Uses to rename the zone to 

Tolland Commercial Zone, revise its purpose, and expand the list of allowable uses. 

Revisions also proposed to Sections 1-2, 8-1, 11A-1 and 19-2.G and the Zoning Map 

to reflect the new name of the TCZ. Applicant: Town of Tolland. 

 

Copies of these applications are on file and available for review in the Planning & Building 

Department at 21 Tolland Green, Tolland, CT.   

 

To be advertised twice in the Journal Inquirer: Wednesday, November 29, 2023 

       Thursday, December 7, 2023  

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Section 6.2 Page 3



Section 6.2 Page 4



Section 6.2 Page 5



 

Article 11:  Tolland Commercial Zoneechnology Campus 

Zone  (TCZ) 

Section 11-1. Purpose 

The purpose of the Technology Campus ZoneTolland Commercial Zone (TCZ) is to position Tolland to 

benefit from economic activities anticipated at the planned University of Connecticut Technology 

Park.  This zone allows uses that support or complement the Technology Park in a manner that fits 

with Tolland’s character and is consistent with the Plan of Conservation and Development.attract 

economic development into the community.  

New development in the TCZ should: 

A.   Emulate a campus form with multiple buildings sharing parking and other amenities and 

buildings generally facing internal drives and roads.Promote medium and large scale commercial 

and light industrial development with design standards to ensure consistency with the general 

architectural forms of the Town.  

B.   Result in a minimal number of driveways on Merrow Road through access management and the 

use of shared driveways and parking areas. 

C.   Encourage property owners to coordinate development. 

D.   Protect important natural resources, especially surface and groundwater. 

E.   Promote sustainable design, high performance buildings and “green” technology. 

F.   Provide pedestrian connections and pathways within and between properties. 

F.  G.   Promotes economic development that benefits from the zone’s proximity to the University of 

Connecticut.  

G.   Promote economic development that complements the UCONN Technology Park and technology 

corridor. 

H.   Protect air quality and, water quality, and the overall character of Merrow Road and neighboring 

areas. 

Section 11-2. Uses 

The allowable uses for this zoning district are designated in Article 14, Commercial and Industrial Uses, 

Section 14-2. Table of Allowable Uses. Existing uses or structures in the TCZ that are conforming as of 

Section 6.2 Page 6



June 30, 2013 shall be considered conforming uses and structures after June 30, 2013 and may have 

extensions, alterations or changes provided no other zoning regulations are violated.   

Section 11-3. Special Permit Standards 

In addition to the standards for approval for Special Permits contained in Section 20-8, the 

Commission shall consider the following: 

A.   Site layout, placement and height of buildings, landscaping or retention of existing vegetation to 

mitigate visual impacts as viewed from Merrow Road and Rhodes Road. 

B.   Curb cuts along Merrow Road that are the minimum necessary to provide adequate access to the 

site. 

C.   Site layout emulates a campus style setting to the degree feasible withpromotes shared 

amenities, shared parking and interconnections using sidewalks or pathways. 

Section 11-4. Requirements  

A.   Dimensional Requirements 

1. Minimum lot area for newly-created lots: 5 (five) acres. Lot area may be reduced to 2 

(two) acres by Special Permit provided a plan showing the potential for integrated 

development with proposed and potential building sites and multi-modal connectivity has 

been approved. 

2. Minimum lot frontage for newly-created lots: 200 feet. Frontage of two or more lots 

which share a single driveway entrance and single driveway exit to a public street may be 

computed as a single frontage. 

3. Minimum front yard setback: 50 feet. The setback for frontage along a public road built 

after the effective date of these regulations and along private roads may be reduced if 

the applicant demonstrates a lesser setback better accomplishes the purpose of this zone. 

4. Minimum rear yard setback: 35 feet. The Commission may reduce this if rear yard wholly 

abuts property located in the TCZ. 

5. Minimum side yard setback: 35 feet. The Commission may reduce this if side yard wholly 

abuts property located in the TCZ. 

5.6. Maximum building size: 50,000 square feet. The Commission may approve a larger 

building by special permit.  

6.7. Maximum building height: two and a half (2.5) stories or 38 feet, whichever is greater. 

Three (3) stories may be approved under the following conditions: 

Section 6.2 Page 7



a. The building’s visibility from Merrow Road and from adjacent residential zones is 

sufficiently buffered by vegetation or topography so that it is no more visible than a 

two story building and, 

b. The building is set back a minimum of 300 feet from the property line along Merrow 

Road. 

0. 8. Maximum lot coverage: 50 percent.  The Commission may approve up to 60% impervious 

coverage in instances when special attention has been given to utilizing landscape areas for low 

impact development stormwater treatment and/or green roof technology. 

 

 

E.  B.   BuffersSiting 

1. Depending on the overall site design, and where otherwise practicable, buildings should be 

sited toward the front of the lot and should maintain a pleasing spatial relationship with 

other buildings and public and interior-access roadways. 

2. Structures should be sited in small groups wherever feasible. 

3. The use of additive massing (the bulk of the building is broken into smaller sections and 

horizontally offset) to provide visual interest is desired. 

4. All effort should be made to preserve and enhance historic structures, unique landforms, 

rock outcrops, stone walls, vegetation, views, etc. and incorporate them into site design. 

5. Driveway access points shall be landscaped while maintaining safe sight lines. 

6. The design of the storm water treatment system shall contain strategies associated with low 

impact development to the maximum extent possible (MEP) as outlined in the Town of 

Tolland Design Manual.  This provision shall also apply to improvements or redevelopment of 

existing commercial sites. If stormwater detention/retention basins are necessary, provisions 

shall be made for shared structures and shared maintenance to the maximum extent feasible. 

 

0. The development of the site shall conserve as much of the existing vegetation as 

possible.  Vegetation in setback areas may be removed only as part of an approved 

Special Permit and Site Plan. 

0. Driveway access points shall be landscaped and buffered from view from residential 

zones as much as possible while maintaining safe sight lines. 

H.  C.   Access and Circulation 

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5",  No bullets or

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.56", Hanging:  0.29",  No

bullets or numbering

Section 6.2 Page 8



1. Access management will be required on all sites, in order to reduce the number of 

driveway cuts onto adjacent roads and mitigate the deterioration of traffic flow generally 

caused by driveways on public roads.  Access management techniques will include shared 

driveways (or provisions for future shared driveways for the first site in the area) or 

interconnected driveways. 

2. Use shared parking with abutting properties wherever feasible. 

3. Provide safe, convenient pedestrian circulation, which also provides access to off-site 

sidewalks, trails, parks and other public places. 

I.  D.   Parking 

1. Parking requirements shall be in accordance with the provisions of Section 19-1. 

2. Parking areas shall not be located within the front yard setback. 

3. Locate large parking areas at the side or rear of building where practical with landscaping 

designed to create visual assets. 

E.   Architectural Guidelines 

The purpose of these architectural guidelines is to provide insight regarding Tolland’s design 

objectives, to encourage aesthetically pleasing commercial and light industrial structures, to reduce 

massive scale and uniform impersonal appearance, and to provide visual interest for newly-

constructed buildings.  

1. Facades. 

a. No uninterrupted length of any facade shall exceed 100 feet and shall incorporate 

wall plane projections or recesses. 

b. The ground floor facade facing a public street should incorporate display windows, 

awnings or other such features to create visual interest. 

c. Windows should be recessed and should include visually prominent sills, shutters or 

other such forms of framing. 

d. All building facades that are visible from a public streetmhgf should be attractively 

designed with windows and other architectural elements so that no visible elevations 

looks like the back of a building. 

2. Roofs. 

a. Variations in roof lines should be used to add interest and complement the character 

of the Town. 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Outline numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering

Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +

Aligned at:  0" + Indent at:  0.25"

Section 6.2 Page 9



b. Rooftop equipment such as HVAC units shall be screened from public view with 

parapets featuring three dimensional cornice treatments. 

3. Materials, colors and detail features. 

a. Building facades should include a repeating pattern including color, texture or change 

of materials. 

b. Predominant exterior building materials should be high quality materials such as brick, 

wood, sandstone and other native stone or tinted textured, concrete masonry units. 

c. Facade colors should be low reflectance, subtle, neutral or earth tone colors.  The use 

of high intensity colors, metallic colors, black or fluorescent colors is discouraged. 

d. Predominant exterior building materials should not include smooth-faced concrete 

block or pre-fabricated steel panels. 

4. Use creative landscaping design, with plantings of sufficient size and quantity to clearly 

enhance the site. 

 

3.  

J.  F.   Other Requirements 

1. All businesses shall conform to the environmental and performance standards in Section 

19-7 of these regulations. 

2. High performance water systems and fixtures designed to eliminate unnecessary use, 

including outside use of water shall be utilized, including grey water systems. 

3. Uses shall be located entirely within enclosed structures, except for approved outdoor 

recreation areas and docking areas necessary for receipt of supply deliveries. 

4. Stormwater management shall comply with goals and standards in the Tolland Low 

Impact Development Design Manual. 

 

 

Formatted: Outline numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering

Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned

at:  0.45" + Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75",  No bullets or

numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Section 6.2 Page 10



Article 14:  Commercial and Industrial Uses 

Section 14-1 Allowable Uses 

The table in Section 14-2 identifies those uses permitted within each of the commercial and industrial zoning district. All commercial and 

industrial uses, developments, and new construction, except as explicitly stated otherwise, require site plan approval by the Commission. Any 

use not expressly permitted by these Regulations shall be prohibited unless the Commission, upon request by an applicant, makes a 

determination of similar use (that the use is similar to uses permitted in the zone). In addition, the Commission retains the right to 

determine if any use meets the intent of the regulations. 

 

Section 14-2 Table of Uses 

P =  Permitted – Site Plan SP = Special Permit --- =  Prohibited 

 

Retail, Personal, & Professional Service Uses TVA-GD NCZ-G NCZ-T CCZ GDD TCZ MPOZ

-TCZ 

CIZ-A CIZ-B TBP 

Retail & Service Establishment P P P P P SPP P P P --- 

Retail & Service Establishments – Over 20,000 sf. SP --- --- SP P SPP P P P --- 

Financial Institution P P P P P SPP P P P --- 

Drive-Thru Service – Pharmacy & Financial Institutions P P P P P ---P P P P --- 

Child & Adult Day-Care Centers, or Group Day-Care Homes. --- P P P P P P SP SP --- 

Veterinary Hospital (without outdoor animals) SP P P P P ---P P P P P 

Veterinary Hospital, Commercial Kennels & Stables (5-acre min.) --- --- --- P --- --- SP --- --- --- 

Laundromat (public sewer required) P P P P P P P P P --- 

Self-Storage Facility --- P P P --- --- SP P P --- 

Roadside stand, regional. --- P P P P --- P P P --- 

Funeral Home --- SP SP SP SP --- SP --- --- --- 

Adult-Oriented Establishment --- --- --- --- SP ---  --- --- --- 

 

 

 

Section 6.2 Page 11



 
Hospitality Uses TVA-GD NCZ-G NCZ-T CCZ GDD TCZ MPOZ-

TCZ 

CIZ-A CIZ-B TBP 

Restaurant (without liquor sales) P P P P P SPP P P P P 

Restaurant (with liquor sales) P SP SP SP P SPP P P P P 

Drive-Thru Service – Fast Food & Fast-Casual SP1 --- --- SP SP --- P SP --- --- 

Restaurant – Brewpub (public sewer required) P --- --- --- P ---P P SP --- SP 

Micro-Brewery, Micro-Distillery, or Micro-Winery 

(public sewer required) 

SP --- --- SP SP ---P P SP --- P 

Brewery, Distillery, or Winery  

(public sewer required) 

--- --- --- --- --- ---P ---P SP --- P 

Hotel (internal access guest rooms) SP SP SP SP SP SP SP SP SP SP 

Bed & Breakfast Establishment P P P P SP ---SP ---SP P P --- 

Retail Food Service Establishment  P P P P P ---P P P P --- 

Catering Facilities SP P P P SP ---P P --- P P 

Banquet Facilities SP SP SP SP SP ---P P --- --- SP 

Commercial/Shared Kitchen P P P P P ---P P --- P P 

1Drive-Thru Service is only allowed by Special Permit in the TVA-GD provided that such facility is in accordance with Section 16-5 of the Zoning 

Regulations and further provided that such restaurant exists at its current location as of October 19, 2020 or when included as part of a Master 

Plan Overlay Zone application. 

 

Commercial Office Uses TVA-GD NCZ-G NCZ-T CCZ GDD TCZ MPOZ-

TCZ 

CIZ-A CIZ-B TBP 

Office (Professional & General) P P P P P P P P P P 

Office (Medical)  SP SP SP SP SP SPP P P P SP 

Section 6.2 Page 12



 

 
Residential & Mixed-Use Developments TVA-GD NCZ-

G 

NCZ-T CCZ GDD TCZ MPOZ-

TCZ 

CIZ-A CIZ-B TBP 

Single-Family Residential --- --- --- SP --- --- --- --- --- --- 

Mixed Use – Residential SP SP SP SP SP SP SP --- SP --- 

Multi-Family Residential SP SP SP SP SP --- SP --- --- --- 

 

Institutional, Public, & Recreational Uses TVA-GD NCZ-G NCZ-T CCZ GDD TCZ MPOZ-

TCZ 

CIZ-A CIZ-B TBP 

Cultural Institution, Art or Music Center, & Museum P P P P P --- --- P P --- 

Public & General Assembly SP SP SP SP SP  --- --- --- --- 

Places of Worship & Religious Institution P P P P P P P P P SP 

Utilities – Public/Private: Structures, Substation, or Office  SP SP SP SP SP SP SP SP SP SP 

School – Private --- --- --- P --- SP P SP SP --- 

Hospital, Nursing or Convalescent Facility --- --- --- P --- --- --- --- --- --- 

Assisted Living Facility --- SP --- --- SP --- --- --- --- --- 

Club SP --- --- --- --- --- --- P P --- 

Commercial Recreation Facilities --- SP SP SP SP ---P ---P SP SP SP 

 

 

 

 

Commercial Laboratory & R&D Uses TVA-GD NCZ-

G 

NCZ-T CCZ GDD TCZ MPOZ-

TCZ 

CIZ-A CIZ-B TBP 

Medical, Dental, & Optical Laboratory --- --- --- --- --- P P P P P 

Laboratory (Research, Experimental, & Development)  --- --- --- --- --- P P P P P 

Technology or Computer-Based Facilities (Data Processing Center) -- --- --- --- --- P P P P P 

Manufacturing (Biotechnology, Medical, & Pharmaceutical) --- --- --- --- --- SPP SPP SP SP SP 

Educational, Scientific, & Research Activity --- --- --- --- --- P P P P P 

Training and/or Conference Center SP SP SP SP SP SPP P SP SP SP 

Licensed Cannabis Retailer and Hybrid Retailer P P P P P SP P P P --- 

Licensed Cannabis Micro-Cultivator Facilities --- --- --- --- --- SP SP SP SP SP 

Licensed Cannabis Cultivator Facilities --- --- --- --- --- SP SP SP SP SP 

Licensed Medical Marijuana – Dispensary P P      P P P SP P P P --- 

Licensed Medical Marijuana Production Facility --- --- --- --- --- SP SP SP SP SP 

Section 6.2 Page 13



Automotive Uses TVA-GD NCZ-G NCZ-T CCZ GDD TCZ MPOZ-

TCZ 

CIZ-A CIZ-B TBP 

Motor Vehicle Sales (licensed by State) --- --- SP --- SP --- --- SP SP --- 

Trailer & Recreational Vehicles Sales --- --- SP SP --- --- --- SP SP --- 

Motor Vehicle Repair (licensed by State) --- --- SP SP P --- --- SP SP --- 

Gasoline Station & Convenience Store SP --- SP --- SP --- --- SP SP --- 

Gasoline Station/Convenience Store – Drive Thru --- --- --- --- SP --- --- --- --- --- 

Car Wash --- --- --- --- SP --- --- SP SP --- 

Parking Facilities (public/private parking serving off-premises) SP --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- 

 

 

Agriculture & Natural Resources TVA-GD NCZ-G NCZ-T CCZ GDD TCZ MPOZ-

TCZ 

CIZ-A CIZ-B TBP 

Agriculture, Nurseries, Forestry, Forest Management * P P P P P P P P P P 

Excavation and/or Removal of Earth Products; Filling Operations --- --- --- --- SP --- --- SP SP --- 

Excavation – Pre-Development Site Grading SP --- --- --- SP SP SP SP SP SP 

Solar Array – Ground Mounted as a principal use --- --- --- --- --- --- --- SP SP SP 
*No Site Plan required to conduct Agriculture, Nurseries, Forestry or Forest Management 

 

Industrial & Manufacturing Uses TVA-GD NCZ-G NCZ-T CCZ GDD TCZ MPOZ-

TCZ 

CIZ-A CIZ-B TBP 

Manufacturing --- --- --- --- --- ---P ---P P P P 

Wholesaling, Warehousing, or Storage --- --- --- --- --- ---SP ---SP SP SP P 

Distribution Center --- --- --- --- --- --- --- SP SP SP 

Transportation Facility --- --- --- --- --- --- --- P P --- 

Printing, Lithography, Photocopy/Graphic Arts Services; Publishing. --- --- --- --- --- ---P ---P SP SP P 

Heavy Equipment – Repair or Restoration --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- SP 

Building Supply – Contractors --- --- --- --- --- ---P ---P SP SP SP 

Building Supply – Public Wholesale  --- --- --- --- --- --- --- SP SP SP 

Contractor's Materials, Supplies, Equipment, Service, & Storage. --- --- --- --- --- --- --- SP SP SP 

 

Formatted Table

Section 6.2 Page 14



Section 1-2.  Zones and Map  

A.   Zones 

1. Residential Design District RDD 

2. Village Center Zone VCZ 

3. Tolland Village Area TVA 

4. Neighborhood Commercial Zone - G NCZ-G 

5. Neighborhood Commercial Zone-T NCZ-T 

6. Community Commercial Zone CCZ 

7. Gateway Design District GDD 

8. Technology Campus ZoneTolland 

Commerical Zone 

TCZ 

9. Commercial / Industrial Zone CIZ 

10. Tolland Business Park TBP 

11. Aquifer Protection Overlay Zone APO 

12. Flood Plain/Stream Belt FP/SB 

 

Section 8-1.  Purpose 

B.   Neighborhood Commercial Zone T (NCZ-T) 

The purpose of the Neighborhood Commercial Zone-T is to provide for smaller scale, less intense 

commercial and office uses which will serve as a transition between the Technology Campus 

ZoneTolland Commercial Zone and residential areas. 

 

Section 11A-1 Purpose and Intent 

The intent and purpose of the Master Plan Overlay Zone (MPOZ) is to create a flexible zoning 

mechanism designed to enable the land area within the designated areas or zoning districts to be 

developed in a responsible and efficient manner consistent with the Plan of Conservation and 

Development. The MPOZ requires the submission and approval of a conceptual master plan as part 

of the zone change application. The MPOZ can be utilized for any property or properties located 

within the Technology Campus ZoneTolland Commercial Zone (TCZ) and the Tolland Village Area 

(TVA-GD). The MPOZ is proposed to create comprehensively designed site developments, including 

industrial, commercial, multi-family residential, and mixed-use developments. When the MPOZ is 

applied to a parcel or parcels of land, the underlying zoning designation remain intact and existing 

Section 6.2 Page 15



properties are not required to utilize the MPOZ designation and related provisions and requirements, 

unless specifically stated.  

Section 19-2.G Freestanding Sign Location and Height  

 

 

Zone 

Maximum  

Height 

Freestanding 

Maximum Height 

Freestanding  

Low Profile 

Setback From 

Front  

Property Line 

Setback from 

Side/Rear 

Property Line 

Residential Design District (RDD) 8 feet 4 feet 10 feet 10 feet 

Village Center Zone (VCZ) 8 feet 4 feet 10 feet 10 feet 

Neighborhood Commercial Zone (NCZ) 10 feet 4 feet 10 feet 10 feet 

Commercial / Industrial Zone (CIZ) 10 feet 4 feet 10 feet 10 feet 

Gateway Design District (GDD) 10 feet 4 feet 10 feet 10 feet 

Tolland Business Park (TBP) 10 feet 4 feet 10 feet 10 feet 

Tolland Village Area (TVA) 8 feet 4 feet 10 feet 10 feet 

Community Commercial Zone (CCZ) 8 feet 4 feet 10 feet 10 feet 

Technology Campus ZoneTolland 

Commerical Zone (TCZ) 

10 feet 4 feet 10 feet 10 feet 

 

 

 

Section 6.2 Page 16



!
!

!
!

!
! ! ! !

!

!

!

! !!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

! !
!

!

!

!
!

!! !!

!

!

!

!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

OLD
ST

AFFO
RD RO

AD
MERROW ROAD

OLD POST ROAD

CR
YS

TA
L L

AK
E R

OA
D

BUFF CAP ROAD

PLAINS ROAD

GOOSE
LANE

TOLLAND STAGE ROAD

SU
GA

RHILL
ROAD

HUNTER RO
AD

GEHRING RO AD

BABCOCK
ROAD

ANTHONY ROAD

KATIE
LANE

GRANT HILL ROAD

NEW ROAD

TORRY ROAD

SO
UTH

RIVE

R ROAD

METCALF ROAD

MILE HILL ROAD

SHENIPSIT L AKE ROAD

REED ROAD

SLATER ROAD

GRAHABER ROAD

KOZLEY ROAD

BAXTER STREET

LOEHR ROAD

CIDERMILL ROAD

NORTH RIVER ROAD

EATON ROAD

RHODES ROAD

PETER GREEN ROAD

COO K
ROAD

BALD HILL ROAD

HARE ROA D

CH ARLES STREET

ANDERSONROAD

BAKOS ROAD

HURLBUT ROAD

WEIGOLD ROAD

DOCKEREL RO AD

DERE K DRIVE

MOUNTAIN SPRING ROAD

WILLIAMS WAY

NOAH LANE

HARTFORD TURNPIKE

WALBRIDGE HILL ROAD

ELLI NGTON ROAD

PINE HILL ROAD

DOE RUN

WILDWOOD ROAD

JOHNSON ROAD

CEDAR SWAMP ROAD

WEIG
OL

D
RO

AD

OLD KENT ROAD

APPLE DRIVE

GOTTIE R ROAD

BURBANK ROAD

SANDY DRIVE

MERLOTWAY

BROWNS BRIDGE ROAD

DEERWOODROAD

TIMBERTRAIL

LEE LANE

FOX RIDGE LANE

ANGELA DRIVE

HIGH RIDGE DRIVE

W
OODHENGE DRIVE

GERBER DRIVE

HIDDEN VALLEY

RYAN R OAD

VIRGINIA LANE

GLENN DRIVE

BRAN
DEN WAY

COR A ROAD

MARABELLA
LANE

AVEBURY LANE

SHERRY CI RCLE

WEBBER ROAD

CERVENS ROAD

KENDALL MOUNTAIN ROAD

OLD CATHOLE
ROAD SOUTH

FOREST LANE

OLD KENTROAD SOUTH

BARSTOW LANE

LAMONTLANE

CARRIAGEDRIVE

SHARON DRIVE

BEECH ROAD

AUTUMN
DRIVE

LAWL OR ROAD

PARTRIDGE
LANE

PE
RO

RO
A D

ROBBIEROAD

BONAIR R OAD

OLD CATHOLE ROAD
NORTH

FERWOOD ROAD

EL
NA

DR
IVE

GA
RR

Y R
OA

D

ROBINCIRCLE

BROOKMOOR ROAD

DUNN HILL ROAD

ANTHONY ROAD SOUTH

JUSTIN
W

AY

HILLTOP ROAD

SUMMITDRIVE

WILLIE CIRCL E

CENTER ROAD

RUOPS ROAD

JO SIAH LANE

ARNOLDDRIVE

CROSSEN DRIVE

WOODFIELDS
DRIVE

PAULA JOY LANE

TOLLAND GREEN

COLUMBINEROAD

FIELDSTONEDRIVE

BIRCHDRIVE

SUSANDRIVE

NE
DW

IED
RO

AD

ANN DRIVE

TOLLAND FARMS ROAD HILLVIEW DRIVE

LORRAINEDRIVE

OLD FARMROAD

BUFF CAPROAD
CH

AR
TE

R
RO

AD

DOYLE ROAD

CH
AR

DO
NN

AY
LA

NE

PILGR IM
DRI VE

MIDLAND DRIVE

SH
AN

DA
LA

NE

EVERGREEN DRIVE

CARTER DRIVE

GEHRING ROAD EXTENSION

GARNET RIDGEDRIVE

CANDLEWOODDRIVE

BUCKSCROSSING

LAKEVIEWHEIGHTS

GRANDVIEW
STREET

MEADOWOOD
ROAD

BARBARAROAD

HERITAGE
LANE

KINGSBURY AVENUE

DO
NN

A M
AE

LA
NE

MOUNTAIN LAURELDRIVE

FISH & GAME ROAD

EAGLEHILL

JULIA ROAD

CRESTWOODROAD

PATRICIADRIVE

AUSTINDRIVE

FARMBROOK DRIVE

ALFREDDRIVE

CORINNE DRIVE

CAROLDRIVE

S TUART DRIVE

ELM ROAD

VALLEY VIEW DRIVE

RID
GE

RO
AD

MELISS A WAY

CURTISROAD

VAALCOM
ROAD

SUMMERWOOD RIDGE

WOODLANDSTREET

CO
RT

LA
ND

DR
IVE

HOLLYROAD

BONAIR HILL ROAD

WOODHEDGEDRIVE
SAND HILLROAD

SUGAR BUSHLANE

STEPHANIELANE

WONDERVIEWDRIVE

SAGE MEADOWDRIVE

SUTTON DRIVE

BIRCH HILLDRIVE

ELIZABETHLANE

WHITEROAD

CHARLOT TE DRIVE

SHORESDRIVE

ALDEN
CIRCLE

DOGWOODROAD

CRYSTAL RIDGEDRIVE

SETTLER'SWAY

LISALANE

SHANTIPLACE

BENNETTDRIVE

ELGINDRIVE

AMY DRIVE

DEER

MEADOW

RUSSELLDRIVE

MIHALIAKDRIVE

WILLOW CREEK DRIVE

STEVENSROAD

BIRCHWOODDRIVE

MAR
LB

ORO
GL

AD
E

KIM CIRCLE

LAUREL RIDGEROAD

INDUSTRIAL PARKROAD WEST ADAM LANE

EASTVIEWTERRACE

STACY LANE
PEPPERWOODROAD

RUNDNANSKYLANE

WHITETAIL
WAY

ELLENDRIVE

STONEHEDGEDRIVE

WHITMANSTREET

SKUNGAMAUGROAD

ZINFANDELCIRCLE

FLORENCEDRIVE

LEMEK
LANE

PAMELA
COURT

HIGGINSWAY

RAISCHDRIVE

CLEARBROOKDRIVE

INDUSTRIAL PARKROAD EAST
CASTLEROAD

HARVESTLANE
HUGHSROAD

MAPLEWOODDRIVE

OAKWOODLANE

OLDORCHARDWAY

LOUISE DRIVE

FAWNTRAIL

HOMESTEAD
HILL

ROLLINGMEADOWDRIVE

CL
AR

KE
RO

AD

PINEGROVEDRIVE

HARRIETDRIVE

RANDYROAD

THOMASDRIVEHILLCRESTDRIVE

FIDDLEHEAD

DRIVE

CLIFFORDAVENUE

GLENVIEWTERRACE

STONE PONDDRIVE

BLUEBERRYHILL ROAD

ANDREWWAY WINTERBOURNEVIEW

HICKORYCOURT

RESEARCH WAY
CHELSEACIRCLE

JOE SABBATHDRIVE

YEARLINGLANE

CIDER MILLCONNECTOR

LAKEVIEWHEIGHTSEXTENSION

LEELA WAY

CRYSTAL SPRINGSDRIVE

WEIGEL VALLEYDRIVE
HAWTHORNHILL

AMELIALANE
ISLANDLANE

DOROTHEALANE

OVERLOOKLANE

BENJAMINLANE

CLOVERLANE

SOUTH RIVERROAD

SHENIPSIT LAKE ROAD

ALTA VISTAAVENUEOLD POST ROAD

GEHRING ROAD

TOLLAND STAGE ROAD

SU
GA

R
HI

LL
RO

AD

OL
D S

TA
FF

OR
D R

OA
D

BUFF CAP ROAD

MERROW ROAD

BAXTER
STREET

NEFF HILL ROAD

STAG TRAIL

ZOEY
PLACE

DUNN ROAD

DIMOCK ROAD

DIMOCK ROAD

TIMBERTRAIL

USHER
RIDGE

NEFF HILL 
ROAD

LA
DD

 RO
AD

AMANDA
WAY

MORGAN LANE

JOSEPHINE
WAY

CHESTER
WAY

!F ×

!F

×
×

!F

×

×
×

×
×

!F

×

!F

!F

!F

×

2

12
13

3

7

14
9

11
13

4

10

1

6

15

13

«
0 21

Miles

Zoning Map,
Town of Tolland, CT

Adopted 12/11/23
Effective 12/26/23

Zoning

Historic and Conservation Sites

1. Pulpit Rock
2. Settlers Rock
3. Tolland Marsh
4. Charter Marsh
5. Cedar Swamp
6. Kendall Mtn. Cliff
7. Animal Pound
8. Donkeyville Mill
9. Silk Mill
10. Brook's Mill Dam
11. Skungamaug Village
12. Benton Homestead
13. Historic portions of cemeteries
14. Tolland Green Historic District
15. Shenipsit Lake

!F CONSERVATION SITE

× HISTORIC SITE

Natural Resource Protection Area (within RDD)

Residential Design District (RDD)

Village Center Zone (VCZ)

Gateway Design District (GDD)

Tolland Village Area (TVA)

Community Commercial Zone (CCZ)

Neighborhood Commercial Zone-G (NCZ-G)

Neighborhood Commercial Zone-T (NCZ-T)

Commercial Industrial Zone- A (CIZ-A)

Commercial Industrial Zone - B (CIZ-B)

Tolland Commercial Zone (TCZ)

Tolland Business Park (TBP)

State Aquifer Protection Area

Flood Plain / Stream Belt

! ! Town Center Pathway Area

DRAFT

Section 6.2 Page 17



Section 8.1 Page 1



Section 8.1 Page 2



11-27-23

Kids Academy
860-992-6651

rsamikhan@me.com

Andy

PVC

Balloon / Helvetica Med.

Tolland, CT

N/A

Orafol Printed Vinyl

PVC

N/A

KidsAcademy01.plt

D:/!Jobs!/K/Kids Academy

Sign Details: 36” x 72” Post & Panel Sign

PR43-K

Revision# 1

2

PR22-K

PR12-H

PR30-K

PR46-K

PR34-K

PR25-K

DP26-K

Section 8.1 Page 3



Meeting Date Upcoming Items

Monday, January 8, 2024 Goals for upcoming year

Monday, January 22, 2024

Monday, February 12, 2024

Monday, February 26, 2024

KEY
TO BE RECEIVED

HEARINGS

NEW/OLD BUSINESS

OTHER

Future Items: 

Planning and Zoning  Two Month Look Ahead

Section 9.5 Page 1



CT Land Use Commissioner Training

Tue Dec 5, 2023

9am - 12pm   Facilitation Basics Training - Virtual - 2 Days - NOW FULL
Where: Link will be provided after registration
Calendar: CT Land Use Commissioner Training
Created by: david.dickson@uconn.edu

Wed Dec 6, 2023

9am - 12pm   Facilitation Basics Training - Virtual - 2 Days - NOW FULL
Where: Link will be provided after registration
Calendar: CT Land Use Commissioner Training
Created by: david.dickson@uconn.edu

Sat Dec 9, 2023

9am - 3pm   Land Use Commissioner Advanced Training at CLEAR - In-person - FULL
Where: UConn Extension - Middlesex County Extension Center, 1066 Saybrook Rd,
Haddam, CT 06438, USA
Calendar: CT Land Use Commissioner Training
Created by: david.dickson@uconn.edu

Mon Dec 11, 2023

1pm - 2pm   
UConn CLEAR Land Use Academy Basic Training - Legal Requirements &
Procedures, 
Roles & Responsibilities - Virtual/online
Calendar: CT Land Use Commissioner Training
Created by: david.dickson@uconn.edu

2pm - 3pm   
Addressing the nation's housing crisis: Where will our children and
grandchildren live? - 
Virtual/online
Calendar: CT Land Use Commissioner Training
Created by: david.dickson@uconn.edu

Section 9.5 Page 2



PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

TOLLAND, CONNECTICUT 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES OF NOVEMBER 27, 2023 

 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT: Andy Powell, Chair       

    Marilee Beebe, Vice Chair (attended remotely) 

    Joe Matteis        

    Erin Stavens 

     

              

        

OTHERS PRESENT:  David Corcoran, Director of Planning & Development 

    Public 

     

    

1. Call to Order:  Andy Powell, Chair, called the meeting to order at 7:03 p.m. in Council Chambers. 

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance:  Recited.  

 

3. Election of Officers:  Mr. Powell stepped down from the Chair position and turned the meeting over 

to Vice Chair, Marilee Beebe. Ms. Beebe entertained motions for nominations for the Chair position.  

 

MOTION:  Erin Stavens/Joe Matteis to nominate Andy Powell for PZC Chair. Ms. Stavens, Mr. 

Matteis, Ms. Beebe and Mr. Powell voted in favor. Motion carried.   

 

Ms. Beebe turned the meeting back over to Mr. Powell. Mr. Powell entertained motions for 

nominations for the Vice Chair position. 

 

MOTION:  Joe Matteis/Erin Stavens to nominate Marilee Beebe for Vice Chair. Mr. Matteis, Ms. 

Stavens, Mr. Powell, and Ms. Beebe voted in favor. Motion carried.  

 

Mr. Powell entertained motions for nominations for the Secretary position.  

 

MOTION:  Erin Stavens/Joe Matteis to nominate Jason Philbin for Secretary. Ms. Stavens, Mr. 

Matteis, Ms. Beebe and Mr. Powell voted in favor. Motion carried.  

  

4. Seating of Alternates:  Mr. Powell noted that Alternates have not yet been sworn in by the Town 

Council, so cannot at this time participate. However, he recognized expected Alternates Amanda 

Hickey and Brian Mead as being in the audience.  

 

5. Additions to Agenda:  None.  

 

6. Public Comment:  None. 

 

7. Public Hearing(s):  None. 

 

8. Old Business:  None. 

 

 

 

 

Section 13 Page 1



November 27, 2023 – Tolland Planning & Zoning Commission 

 2 

9. New Business 

 

9.1 TCZ Discussion – Mr. Corcoran provided a recap. He noted the PZC has been discussing 

reworking the Technology Campus Zone for a couple of months now, possibly renaming it 

“Tolland Commercial Zone.”  

 

In October, members of the business community and other were invited to a meeting to provide 

feedback on what they would like this zone to look like. From that conversation, he put together 

the suggested changes. The purpose of the zone was broadened with a goal to attract high quality, 

attractive, economic development, preferably larger scale development and to continue to 

encourage access management. The list of allowed uses was broadened. Most of the dimensional 

requirements remained the same. Some new design guidelines and standards were added that they 

hope will be helpful for developers.  

 

He reviewed some of the modifications to the Table of Allowed Uses noting many are allowed by 

site plan. This should help make some properties more marketable.  

 

There were no comments from the Commission. The discussion was opened to public comment. 

Local realtor Mark Riesbeck asked if laboratory space is a permitted use. Mr. Powell said it is. 

There had been discussion at the previous meeting whether or not this should require a Special 

Permit, but the Commission agreed to make it a permitted use. Mr. Corcoran noted one caveat--

that any building over 50,000 square feet in the TCZ will require a Special Permit.  

 

Mr. Matteis discussed Page 5 under the former “Buffer” heading, Item 5. He asked what was being 

referenced in this item. Mr. Corcoran said he envisioned if there is a long driveway into a 

complex, if there is an adjacent residential property, then at some point a buffer will need to be 

started. However, the buffer does not necessarily have to extend all the way to the road. Mr. 

Matteis said he felt that regulations that can’t be enforced should not be included. After some 

further discussion, there was agreement to reword Item 5 to read: Driveway access points shall be 

landscaped while maintaining safe sight lines.  

 

Mr. Riesbeck asked when these zone changes would officially take effect. Mr. Corcoran said if 

everyone is good with the new proposal, then they can set a public hearing date for December 11. 

Mr. Riesbeck said he liked the changes and felt they will help him better market his property.  

 

MOTION:  Joe Matteis/Erin Stavens to set the public hearing for proposed changes to the TCZ 

for December 11, 2023. Ms. Stavens, Mr. Matteis, Ms. Beebe and Mr. Powell voted in favor. 

Motion carried.  

 

9.2 Approve 2024 Meeting Schedule – The Commission reviewed the meeting schedule, noting there 

will be only one meeting in November, 2024. Ms. Stavens questioned whether or not they might 

want to cancel the December 23 meeting, as it is so close to Christmas. After a short discussion, it 

was agreed to leave it on the calendar and cancel it if need be when the date gets closer.  

 

MOTION:  Joe Matteis/Erin Stavens to approve the 2024 Meeting Schedule as written. Mr. 

Matteis, Ms. Stavens, Ms. Beebe and Mr. Powell voted in favor. Motion carried.  

 

9.3 PZC #23-15 – 131 Merrow Road – Request for a Special Permit Modification to allow a minor 

change in the building footprint with a new architectural style and minor site adjustments. Zone: 

Gateway Design District (GDD). Applicant: Elements Car Wash. Receive and set Public Hearing 

for Monday, December 11, 2023.  

 

Section 13 Page 2



November 27, 2023 – Tolland Planning & Zoning Commission 

 3 

Ms. Beebe recused herself from this agenda item.  

 

Mr. Corcoran asked that because the applicant is modifying the exterior, does the Commission 

want him to refer it back to the Design Advisory Board (DAB) for their input? He said it is not 

required. Mr. Matteis asked what size the modification would be. Mr. Corcoran said it would be 

100 to 200 square feet maximum. The applicant wants to make the building a bit narrower and a 

bit longer. Mr. Matteis said the rendering of the building looks nice. After a short discussion, the 

Commission agreed that a DAB review would not be necessary in this case. 

 

MOTION:  Erin Stavens/Joe Matteis to receive and set the Public Hearing for PZC #23-15 for 

December 11, 2023. Ms. Stavens, Mr. Matteis and Mr. Powell voted in favor. Motion carried.  

 

10. Reports 

 

10.1 Town Council Liaison – No report. 

 

10.2 Economic Development Liaison – No report. 

 

10.3 Capitol Region Council of Governments – No report 

 

10.4 Zoning Enforcement Report – Mr. Corcoran said things have been quiet. They still have the 

ongoing issue with the woodchips on a property off Goose Lane and the Inland Wetlands 

Commission is still working on it.  

 

Mr. Powell asked if there was any update on the quarry. Mr. Corcoran said it is still inactive. The 

owner is looking for a tenant or trying to sell it. If and when they are ready to start quarrying 

again, they will first need to submit an annual map.  

 

Mr. Corcoran said the CollegeView foreclosure auction was pushed back to December. There are a 

few interested parties, and ideally, once the property is sold, he expects the project to start up 

again. 

 

Mr. Corcoran also reported that the Girl Scouts are beginning the process on their facility. They 

are working through the wetlands process. Permits will be issued as they go.  

 

10.5 Planning Update – There will be two public hearings on December 11, 2023.  

 

11. Other Business: None. 

 

12. Correspondence:  None. 

 

13. Public Participation: Mr. Riesbeck asked about the December 11 public hearing on the TCZ. He 

asked if someone is opposed to the proposed changes, will this affect the process? Mr. Powell said it 

will depend on what the issue is, but the public hearing process allows for more input. It is possible 

that they could vote on the proposal that same night. Mr. Corcoran noted that there is a 15-day appeal 

period so they usually make regulation changes effective after that 15-day period.  

 

14. Approval of Minutes – October 30, 2023 Regular Meeting 

 

MOTION:  Erin Stavens/Joe Matteis to approve the October 30, 2023 Regular Meeting Minutes as 

written. Ms. Stavens, Mr. Matteis, Ms. Beebe, and Mr. Powell voted in favor. Motion carried.  

 

Section 13 Page 3



November 27, 2023 – Tolland Planning & Zoning Commission 

 4 

 

 

15. Adjournment 

 

MOTION:  Joe Matteis/Erin Stavens to adjourn the meeting and pay the clerk at 7:33 p.m. Ms. 

Stavens, Mr. Matteis, Ms. Beebe and Mr. Powell voted in favor. Motion carried.  

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

Annie Gentile 

Clerk 

Section 13 Page 4


	Agenda
	Section 6.1 - Public Hearing - PZC #23-15 - 131 Merrow Road
	Previous approval

	Section 6.2 - Public Hearing - PZC 23-16 - TCZ
	Section 8.1 - Sign Permit - 52 Rhodes Road
	Section 9.5 - Planning Update
	Section 13 - Approval of Meeting Minutes from November 27, 2023



